RECEIVED**09-17-2015****CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

STATE OF WISCONSIN
COURT OF APPEALS
DISTRICT I

Case No(s). 2015AP000194-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

CHRISTOPHER E. MASARIK,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION
AND AN ORDER DENYING DEFENDANT'S
POSTCONVICTION MOTION ENTERED IN
MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE
HONORABLE KEVIN E. MARTENS AND THE
HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE DEFENDANT-
APPELLANT, CHRISTOPHER E. MASARIK

SUBMITTED BY:

Scott A. Szabrowicz
State Bar Number 1029087
Attorney for Defendant-
Appellant

P.O. Address:
4227 W. Forest Home Ave.
Milwaukee, WI 53215
Tel: (414)395-6594

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER MASARIK'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILING TO CHALLENGE TH WARRANTLESS ARREST OF MASARIK.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: NO.

- II. WHETHER MASARIK'S TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL FOR FAILURE TO PROPERLY RAISE SUPPRESSION OF STATEMENTS MOTION ISSUES.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: NO

- III. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MASARIK'S SUPPRESSION OF STATEMENTS MOTION

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: NO.

- IV. WHETHER THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING SENTENCE MODIFICATION MOTION.

THE CIRCUIT COURT ANSWERED: NO

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND
PUBLICATION

The Defendant-Appellant does not request oral argument or publication in this case because he believes that the issues can be fully described in the parties' briefs and that the issues may be decided using presently established legal precedent.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A criminal complaint was filed on August 26, 2009, which alleged that on or about August 7, 2009, the defendant, Christopher E. Masarik (Masarik), committed a felony murder under § 943.03, Wis. Stats., for setting a fire at a residence and ultimately causing the death of M..J.¹

The case proceeded through the judicial system. On March 22, 2010, at a point just before a jury trial which was subsequently adjourned occurred, the criminal charges were amended now alleging the offenses of first degree reckless homicide under § 940.02(1), Wis. Stats., and arson of a building/dwelling under § 943.02(1)(a), Wis. Stats. (R. 15: 1).

Relevant in part to this appeal, were defense motions for suppression of statements, and also an initial challenge to the warrantless arrest of Masarik by Milwaukee Police. (R. 5: 1, A-Ap. 110). On July 14, 2010, before the later scheduled jury trial began, the Circuit Court held an evidentiary hearing for the suppression of

¹ All references to the deceased victim and victim family members in this brief will be by first and last name initials so as to protect the privacy interests of the victim. See Rule 809.96, Wis. Stats.

statements motion, i.e., a *Miranda-Goodchild*² hearing. (R. 113: 1-42). At the conclusion of the hearing the Circuit Court denied Masarik's motion to suppress his statements. (R. 113: 34-39, A-Ap. 125-30).

The case thereafter went to a jury trial, and on August 19, 2010, Masarik was found guilty for the offenses of first degree reckless homicide under § 940.02(1), Wis. Stats., and for arson of a building or dwelling under § 943.02(1)(a), Wis. Stats. On November 4, 2010, the Circuit Court sentenced Masarik to serve combined total bifurcated sentence of forty-eight years of imprisonment, consisting of thirty-two years of initial prison confinement and sixteen years of extended supervision, for the offenses.

On October 27, 2014, Masarik filed a postconviction motion seeking to vacate the judgment of conviction and order the suppression of the statements and any derivative evidence, or, in the alternative, for a sentence modification, and further requesting that the circuit court order a hearing, including a *Machner* hearing,

² *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S. Ct. 1602 (1966), *State ex rel. Goodchild v. Burke*, 27 Wis. 2d 244, 133 N.W.2d 753 (1965).

to be held. (R. 94: 1-20). The parties filed further briefs, and on January 6, 2015, the circuit court entered a decision denying Masarik's postconviction motion without a hearing. (R. 102: 1-4; A-Ap. 120-23).

This case is before this Court pursuant to Masarik's notice of appeal filed on January 23, 2015. (R. 103: 1-3).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On August 26, 2009, a criminal complaint was filed against Christopher E. Masarik (Masarik) for one count of felony murder under § 943.03, Wis. Stats., alleged to have been committed by Masarik by the setting of a fire on or about August 7, 2009 at a residence on South Wentworth Street in the City of Milwaukee and which resulted in the death of M.J. (R. 2: 1-5; A-Ap. 105-09). Relevant to this postconviction motion, the complaint states in part:

Upon the statement of City of Milwaukee Police Detective Jason Dorava, who stated that on Friday, August 7, 2009, at approximately 4:15 a.m., he was dispatched to [a S. Wentworth Ave house], City and County of Milwaukee, to assist in a fire investigation.

* * *

. . . . The firefighters then broke out all of the second floor windows and it took approximately 3-5 minutes before Lieutenant Hinsencant was able to go into the structure. He was followed by Unrein and firefighter Polka. The smoke level was approximately 1 foot off of the ceiling. In the west side bedroom, Lieutenant Hinsencant observed a person, later

identified as [M.J.], on the floor of the west side bedroom. [M.J.] did not appear to be breathing. Polka and Unrein then carried the victim, [M.J.], out through the back stairs and placed him in Medical Unit 15. Life saving efforts were performed but firefighters were unable to revive the victim.

* * *

Detective Wallich further states that the defendant, Christopher Masarik, was arrested on August 20, 2009 at a gas station located at 1425 N Farwell, City and County of Milwaukee, driving a Maroon 1993 Chevrolet Lumina minivan. Detective Wallich searched the defendant's van and found a bag containing 22 books of matches within a box which held 50 books of matches when full. There was a skillet pan on the front passenger seat and a lighter was inside the skillet. In the back of the minivan, there were three gas cans, two 1-gallon gas cans and one 2 1/2 - gallon gas can, which was in the tire storage area. One of the 1-gallon gas cans had trace of gasoline and the other 1-gallon gas can had a smell of a gas/oil mixture. The 2 1/2 - gallon gas can had about 1/8 of an inch of a liquid substance, which smelled like gasoline in the bottom of the can.

Upon the statement of City of Milwaukee Police Detective James Hutchinson, who states that on August 22, 2009, he together with Detective Jeremiah Jacks interviewed the defendant . . . [.]

Masarik stated that on the above-date at approximately 2 a.m., he was in his 1993 red Chevy Lumina van and after going to a gas station, he decided to stop at his friend [M.J.'s] house who lives off of Russell on Wentworth. He stated that he went there in order to get more gas. He stated he parked in front of the house and retrieved a gas can from behind his seat, where he kept it in a tire, and then walked to the back of the home where his friend [M.J.'s] lives. Masarik stated that he went to the back stairs carrying the plastic gas can. He knocked on the door and after receiving no answer, believed that [M.J.] was not home. Masarik stated that he was going to check under the stairs in a storage area that has a door to see if there was any gas to put into his can. He stated that while in the storage area, he did attempt to look into the gas tank of the push lawn mower and found that it was empty. He stated that at this time, he decided to do what he described as

"something stupid." He stated that he took the top of the paper portion of a cigarette box and after ripping it off of the cigarette pack, straightened it out and lit it on fire, putting it in the gas tank of the lawn mower. He stated that he did not light the lawn mower on fire. He took his lighter and after seeing a twine string, which was located to the right of the door hanging on a hook, he lit this string on fire. Masarik stated that he possibly shut the door to the storage area, then walked back towards the van. He stated that when he arrived near the van at the street, and while approximately 10 feet from his van, he observed the flame on the string "glowing." He stated that the size of the flame at that time to be about 6 inches in length, comparable to the height of a soda can.

(R. 2: 1-5, A-Ap. 105-09).

Important to the appeal in this case were the alleged statements of Masarik's friends/co-workers and which were relied upon in support of the arrest of Masarik without a warrant. Relative to this issue, the complaint indicates, in part:

Upon the statement of City of Milwaukee Police Detective Charles Mueller, who states that he interviewed a citizen witness, Jason Kuehn, on August 20, 2009. Kuehn stated that he is a friend of the defendant, Christopher Masarik. After the above-described fire, he had a conversation with Christopher Masarik. Masarik told Kuehn that he was at [M.J.'s] house, he was in [M.J.'s] backyard and for a prank, he took the gas cap off the lawn mower and put a piece of paper or a rag in the gas tank and lit it. He stated that after he lit it, nothing happened and he walked away. On August 8, 2009, Kuehn and Masarik were working on a job together and Masarik made the comment that he can't believe that [M.J.] is gone. On August 14, 2009, Kuehn and Masarik were going to go fishing and when Masarik went and opened up the rear hatch to his red minivan to grab the fishing poles, he grabbed a small red plastic gas can with a yellow spout on it and made the

comment, "this is the gas can that I used," referring to the fire at [M.J.'s] house. Kuehn described the gas can as being a red plastic, approximately 1 or 2 gallon in capacity, with a yellow plastic spout. At that point, Kuehn stated, "I thought you didn't use gas," but Masarik did not reply to this comment. Subsequently on that day, the defendant stated, "I can't believe I killed my friend," and then later stated, "I can't believe I got away with it," and then stated several times, "I can't believe I burned [M.J.]" While they were fishing, the defendant told Kuehn that if he tells anybody, he'll burn his house and his mom's house and Brian and Ned's house. Kuehn stated that when Masarik was making these comments, he was telling him he didn't want to hear it but that Masarik kept talking and would not let it rest.

Kuehn further states that on Tuesday evening, August 18, 2009, he again spoke with the defendant. The defendant stated that on the night that [M.J.] was killed, he drove down to [M.J.'s] house at about 1:30 in the morning. The defendant stated that he was in [M.J.'s] backyard and there was nobody around and that he took a piss in the backyard. The defendant again made the comment that he was pouring gas at [M.J.'s] place and he started a fire just as a prank at [M.J.'s] house. When the defendant stated that he was pouring gas, Kuehn asked, "I thought you didn't pour any gas," and the defendant did not respond to him. The defendant stated that [M.J.'s] had been harassing him and picking on him the last couple of weeks.

(R. 2: 4-5, A-Ap. 108-09).

After the criminal proceedings were commenced against Masarik, the case proceeded through the judicial system.

Relevant to this appeal is the suppression of statements motion, and also *an initial challenge to the arrest* made of Mr. Masarik. Regarding the later point,

Masarik's first trial attorney submitted a motion indicating, in part:

1. That the statements were made pursuant to a detention by the police without probable cause for arrest and were not sufficiently attenuated to permit the use at trial of the statements. Dunaway v. New York, 442 U.S. 200, 60 L.Ed. 2d 824, 99 S.Ct. 2248 (1979).

(R. 5: 1; A-Ap. 110).

As referenced in the complaint and later at trial, statements made by an individual named Jason Kuehn to the police nearly two weeks after the subject fire, i.e., alleged statements by Masarik to Kuehn on occasions of the two doing roofing work and while fishing, drinking alcohol, and smoking marijuana, were the reasons that prompted Masarik's arrest by police. (R. 118: 55-73, R. 94-D, Szabrowicz Aff., Exhibit A, p. 2).

Referenced in the police reports are statements made by Brian Linnane and Jason Kuehn to the police on August 20, 2009, i.e., thirteen days after the August 7, 2009 fire. The reports indicate in part:

Upon the conclusion of this interview, LINNANE and KUEHN had agreed to arrange to meet with MASARIK. This meeting was done via KUEHN calling MASARIK on his cell phone. Based on these phone conversations, arrangements had been made to have MASARIK arrested at the location they were to meet.

Based on the information that was obtained by KUEHN, MASARIK was located at a gas station at 1425 N. Farwell driving a maroon 1993 Chevrolet Lumina APV with WI/plate of 451PYX. . . . [Police Officers] were all present and assisted in taking MASARIK into custody. Officer RHODE and POVOLO conveyed MASARIK to the Police Administration Building where he was processed at PPS. The van was towed from the scene [.]

(R. 94-D, Szabrowicz Aff., Exhibit A, p. 2).

After Masarik was appointed successor counsel, from Attorney Richard Johnson to Attorney Richard Poulson, the arrest without probable cause challenge was apparently dropped, (R. 110: 6), but according to Masarik, not by his choice, (R. 94-D, Szabrowicz Aff., ¶ 8, A-Ap. 118), and the motion to suppress statements challenge alone continued.

A *Miranda-Goodchild* hearing took place on July 14, 2010, to determine whether the statements from the interrogations would be suppressed. (R. 113: 1-42). The Circuit Court set forth a purported agreement limiting the scope of the motion, stating the following:

THE COURT: And my understanding is that Mr. Masarik gave a statement for a period of time, allegedly then asked for a lawyer, the statement was stopped, there was then a break off of the recording, the recording then resumed with a request for Mr. Masarik to continue talking. The detectives gave Mr. Masarik his constitutional rights, his Miranda rights, and then the statement continued.

MR. WILLIAMS [ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY]: Yes.

THE COURT: And the issue here is basically what happened during that break period. But in order to understand everything, we agreed that we were going to play the relevant portions of the statement around that time frame. Correct?

MR. WILLIAMS [ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY]: Yes.

(R. 113: 3-4). For the State, a portion of the police interrogations statements were played aloud in court, and Milwaukee Police Detectives Erik Gulbrandson and Rodney Young testified regarding the circumstances of the police interrogations. (R. 113: 4-20, 29-34, see also, R. 124, State's Exhibit 1 - Compact Disc Audio Recording). For the defense, Mr. Masarik himself testified. (R. 113: 21-28).

After the parties closed their cases and made their respective arguments in support or against suppression of the statements, the circuit court made its oral ruling denying the motion to suppress. (R. 113: 34-39, A-Ap. 125-30). In denying the defense motion to suppress statements, the Circuit Court stated, in part:

THE COURT: Well, it's my understanding that when a defendant invokes his right to counsel in an interrogation, that the invocation of that right has to be unequivocal. It's got to be absolute and unequivocal. Not should I or shouldn't I have a lawyer? Maybe I should have a lawyer. But it

should be I want a lawyer, I don't want to speak anymore. Is that your understanding, Mr. Williams?

MR. WILLIAMS: Yes.

THE COURT: And Mr. Poulson, correct?

MR. POULSON: Yes.

THE COURT: And what I am hearing here is Mr. Masarik basically equivocating. However, the detectives went the extra mile and viewed it as a request for a lawyer. They stopped the questioning. There was a 15-minute break for Mr. Masarik to think, because that was what he said, that was part of the recorded testimony is he needed time to think; again, making it not unequivocal, but still the detectives followed through.

And then when the detectives came back to check on him, he starts talking again voluntarily. The detectives then tell him that he can't continue to talk until they go through some additional procedures, follow those procedures by re-mirandizing him and then continuing on with the statement.

The reason why I bring up the unequivocal issue, even though it's not really at issue here, is from the original statement, it makes it highly possible and quite probable that Mr. Masarik would equivocate later on and want to talk more about the case.

We've heard from the detectives that they did not in any way add any type of coercion or mention anything with regard to lesser penalties or going to bat for him with regard to the D.A. and charges being issued in this case, and the detectives seemed to be far more credible. They are very straight forward in what they say; Mr. Masarik's testimony here was not the most clear.

But the turning point is the fact that when he said he wanted a lawyer, he said I think I should have a lawyer, I need some time to think; which, again in my mind makes it more probable that after his time that he had to think that he would want to continue to talk or may want to continue to talk.

So it's not one of those situations where a defendant says I demand a lawyer, I will not speak with you, and then detectives come back and say,

well, if you talk with us, we are going to make sure that the charges aren't issued, and then start browbeating him and then he says, okay, fine, I guess if you really want, I will talk to you. It's not that clear. It's more of that middle-level equivocation. And because of all that I believe that all of the proper procedures were followed and the motion to suppress is denied.

(R. 113: 37-39, A-Ap. 128-30).

After the court denied the motion to suppress statements, the case eventually progressed to a jury trial. On August 19, 2010, after the trial, Masarik was found guilty for the offenses of first degree reckless homicide under § 940.02(1), Wis. Stats., and for arson of a building or dwelling under § 943.02(1)(a), Wis. Stats., for events that occurred on August 7, 2009. (R. 37: 1-3, A-Ap. 112-14).

On November 4, 2010, the circuit court sentenced Masarik to serve a combined total bifurcated sentence of forty-eight years of imprisonment, consisting of thirty-two years of initial prison confinement and sixteen years of extended supervision, broken down as twenty-five years of initial confinement and ten years of extended supervision for the first degree reckless homicide offense and a consecutive term of seven years of initial confinement and

six years of extended supervision for the arson offense. (R. 37: 1-3, A-Ap. 112-14).

On October 27, 2014, Masarik filed a postconviction motion seeking to vacate the judgment of conviction and order the suppression of the statements and any derivative evidence, or in the alternative, for a sentence modification, and further requesting that the Circuit Court order a hearing, including a *Machner* hearing, to be held. (R. 94: 1-20). The parties filed further briefs, and on January 6, 2015, the Circuit Court entered a decision denying Masarik's postconviction motion without a hearing. (R. 102: 1-4; A-Ap. 120-23).

This case is before this Court of Appeals pursuant to Masarik's notice of appeal filed on January 23, 2015. (R. 103: 1-3).

Additional facts will be added to the arguments section of this brief as necessary.

ARGUMENTS

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DENYING MASARIK'S CLAIM THAT HIS TRIAL COUNSEL PROVIDED PREJUDICIALLY INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL BY FAILING TO CHALLENGE THE INITIAL ARREST

A. Standard of Review.

Masarik asserts that his trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel when he failed to challenge Masarik's initial arrest.

To prevail on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, a defendant must show that his or her trial counsel's performance was deficient and that such deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *State v. Smith*, 207 Wis. 2d 258, 273 558 N.W.2d 379 (1997), *see also*, *State v. Pitch*, 124 Wis. 2d 628, 633, 369 N.W.2d 711, 714 (1985) (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687 (1984)). Both the claimed deficient performance and prejudice components of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim present mixed questions of law and fact. *State v. Glass*, 170 Wis. 2d 146, 151, 488 N.W.2d 432, 434 (Ct. App. 1992). “[The Court of Appeals] will not upset a

trial court's underlying findings as to what happened unless they are clearly erroneous." *Id.* "Whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial however are questions of law which [the Court of Appeals] reviews without deference to the trial court[']s" determinations. *Id.*

B. The Circuit Court Erred in Denying Masarik's Postconviction Motion of Ineffective Assistance of Counsel for Counsel's Failure to Challenge the Warrantless Arrest.

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