RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN

12-03-2015

COURT OF APPEALS

**CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS
OF WISCONSIN**

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP194-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER E. MASARIK,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND
FROM AN ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION
RELIEF, ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR
MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE KEVIN E.
MARTENS, PRESIDING AT TRIAL, AND THE
HONORABLE JEFFREY A. WAGNER, PRESIDING AT
THE POSTCONVICTION STAGE

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL
Attorney General

DANIEL J. O'BRIEN
Assistant Attorney General
State Bar #1018324

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

- I. THE POSTCONVICTION COURT PROPERLY EXERCISED ITS DISCRETION TO DENY MASARIK'S POSTCONVICTION MOTION WITHOUT AN EVIDENTIARY HEARING BECAUSE HIS UNDERLYING CHALLENGES TO THE PROBABLE CAUSE FOR HIS ARREST AND TO THE VOLUNTARINESS OF HIS INCULPATORY STATEMENTS LACKED MERIT.

Masarik insists that his trial attorney was ineffective for not arguing that his arrest was without probable cause, and that Masarik's inculpatory statements were coerced by police tactics that apparently played upon his mental health problems.

These claims are utterly devoid of merit. Police had probable cause to arrest Masarik in the form of a credible and corroborated report by a named citizen informant with no motive to falsely accuse Masarik. Masarik's offer of proof that his mental health issues somehow coerced his inculpatory statements fell far short of what would be required to hold an evidentiary hearing.

- A. The applicable law and standard for review of the denial of a postconviction motion challenging the effectiveness of trial counsel without an evidentiary hearing.

The sufficiency of a postconviction motion to require an evidentiary hearing is a question of law to be reviewed by this court de novo. *State v. Balliette*, 2011 WI 79, ¶ 18, 336 Wis. 2d 358, 805 N.W.2d 334.

To be sufficient to warrant further evidentiary inquiry, the postconviction motion must allege material facts that are significant or essential to the issues at hand. *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 22, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433. The motion must specifically allege within its four corners material facts answering the questions who, what, when,

where, why and how Masarik would successfully prove at an evidentiary hearing that he is entitled to a new trial: “the five ‘w’s’ and one ‘h’” test. *Id.* ¶ 23. See *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 59; *State v. Love*, 2005 WI 116, ¶ 27, 284 Wis. 2d 111, 700 N.W.2d 62.

If the motion is insufficient on its face, presents only conclusory allegations, or even if facially sufficient the record conclusively shows that Masarik is not entitled to relief, the trial court may in the exercise of its sound discretion deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing, subject to deferential appellate review. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 50; *Allen*, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶¶ 9, 12; *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 310-11, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996); *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497-98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). See *State v. Roberson*, 2006 WI 80, ¶ 43, 292 Wis. 2d 280, 717 N.W.2d 111.

To obtain an evidentiary hearing on an ineffective assistance of counsel claim, the motion must allege with factual specificity both deficient performance and prejudice. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 20, 40; *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-18. Masarik could not rely on conclusory allegations of deficient performance and prejudice, hoping to supplement them at an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* at 313, 317-18; *Levesque v. State*, 63 Wis. 2d 412, 421-22, 217 N.W.2d 317 (1974). The motion had to allege with factual specificity how and why trial counsel’s performance was both deficient and prejudicial to the defense. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 40, 59, 67-70; *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-18; *State v. Saunders*, 196 Wis. 2d 45, 49-52, 538 N.W.2d 546 (Ct. App. 1995). Even when the allegations of deficient performance are specific, the trial court in its discretion may deny the motion without an evidentiary hearing if the allegations of prejudice are only conclusory. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 313-18. See *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 40, 56, 70.

1. Deficient performance.

To establish deficient performance, it would not be enough for Masarik to prove that his attorney's performance was "imperfect or less than ideal." *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358 ¶ 22. The issue is "whether the attorney's performance was reasonably effective considering all the circumstances." *Id.* (citing *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 688 (1984)). Counsel is strongly presumed to have rendered reasonably competent assistance. *Id.* ¶¶ 25, 27. Masarik had to make specific allegations in his motion to overcome that strong presumption. Only then would Masarik be entitled to an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* ¶ 78. See *Burt v. Titlow*, ___ U.S. ___, 134 S. Ct. 10, 17 (2013).

"Strategic choices are 'virtually unchallengeable.'" *McAfee v. Thurmer*, 589 F.3d 353, 356 (7th Cir. 2009) (quoting *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690). Masarik had to show that trial counsel's deficiencies sunk to the level of professional malpractice. See *State v. Maloney*, 2005 WI 74, ¶ 23 n.11, 281 Wis. 2d 595, 698 N.W.2d 583. Counsel need not even be very good to be deemed constitutionally adequate. *State v. Wright*, 2003 WI App 252, ¶ 28, 268 Wis. 2d 694, 673 N.W.2d 386; *State v. Mosley*, 201 Wis. 2d 36, 49, 547 N.W.2d 806 (Ct. App. 1996); *McAfee*, 589 F.3d at 355-56 (citing *Dean v. Young*, 777 F.2d 1239, 1245 (7th Cir. 1985)).

2. Prejudice.

Masarik had to also specifically allege prejudice in his motion because it would be his burden to affirmatively prove by clear and convincing evidence at an evidentiary hearing that he suffered actual prejudice as the result of counsel's proven deficient performance. Masarik would have to prove a reasonable probability that he would have received a more favorable outcome at trial but for counsel's deficient performance. See *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. He could not speculate. *Balliette*, 336 Wis. 2d 358, ¶¶ 24, 63, 70. "The

likelihood of a different outcome ‘must be substantial, not just conceivable.’ [*Harrington v. Richter*, 131 S. Ct. at 792.” *Campbell v. Smith*, 770 F.3d 540, 549 (7th Cir. 2014).

To prevail on a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to file a suppression motion, Masarik must prove the suppression motion would have succeeded had it been brought. *See, e.g., State v. Jackson*, 229 Wis. 2d 328, 344, 600 N.W.2d 39 (Ct. App. 1999) (citing *Kimmelman v. Morrison*, 477 U.S. [365], 375 [(1986)]). This is because trial counsel is not as a matter of law ineffective for failing to interpose what would have been a meritless objection. *See State v. Harvey*, 139 Wis. 2d 353, 380, 407 N.W.2d 235 (1987); *State v. Berggren*, 2009 WI App 82, ¶ 21, 320 Wis. 2d 209, 769 N.W.2d 110; *State v. Quarzenski*, 2007 WI App 212, ¶ 18, 305 Wis. 2d 525, 739 N.W.2d 844; *State v. Swinson*, 2003 WI App 45, ¶ 59, 261 Wis. 2d 633, 660 N.W.2d 12; *State v. Simpson*, 185 Wis. 2d 772, 784, 519 N.W.2d 662 (Ct. App. 1994).

B. Masarik failed to prove deficient performance because a challenge to the probable cause for his arrest lacked merit.

1. The relevant facts.

Someone intentionally set an “incendiary” fire (neither accidentally nor naturally caused) by pouring and igniting a flammable liquid onto the porch leading to the rear (and only) entrance to Michael Jansen’s second floor apartment on South Wentworth Street in the City of Milwaukee in the wee hours of August 7, 2009 (116:110-33, 137; 117:84-85). Michael Jansen was asleep in his apartment and unable to get out. Firefighters found Jansen unconscious on the floor of his bedroom. He died a grisly death caused by a combination of smoke inhalation and burns over 57 per cent of his body (116:74-76; 118:56, 61-65).

Jason Kuehn testified at trial that he was Masarik's co-worker and friend for fourteen years. He and Masarik were also mutual friends of Michael Jansen (117:55, 59-60). According to Kuehn, Masarik was supposed to work with him at 8:00 a.m. August 7, 2009, but did not show up for work until 12:30 p.m. Kuehn had learned before then that Michael Jansen was "killed" and his house was "burned." When Kuehn revealed this information about their mutual friend to Masarik, Masarik could not believe it and wanted to know how it happened. According to Kuehn, after they worked for an hour-and-a-half, Masarik told him that he put a piece of paper inside Jansen's lawn mower and set it on fire. When Kuehn said he would have to tell on him, Masarik just laughed (117:56).

One week later, on August 14, 2009, Kuehn and Masarik got together to go fishing and drink beer (117:56-57). When he retrieved the beer from the back of Masarik's van, Kuehn saw a gas tank. When Kuehn asked about the tank, Masarik told him that it was what he used "on Mike's house." When Kuehn remarked that he thought Masarik had told him he did not use gas, Masarik did not respond. Masarik repeated a couple of times that he could not believe Jansen was dead. Masarik seemed, according to Kuehn, both happy and sad about it (117:57). According to Kuehn, Masarik and Jansen had some disagreements (117:71-72). As they were smoking marijuana together on August 14, Masarik warned Kuehn that he would burn down Kuehn's and Kuehn's mother's houses if he told anyone about what he had said (117:57-58, 67-68). Masarik also threatened to burn down a home where another mutual friend and the friend's stepfather lived (117:70). Kuehn did not say anything in response to the threats and pretended to remain calm, but inside he felt "that's not right" (117:58).

Kuehn next saw Masarik four days later, August 18, 2009. Masarik admitted to Kuehn that he poured gasoline in Jansen's backyard, lit it and left (117:58-59). Kuehn went home and decided to go to the police with this information because it was "the right thing to do" (117:59, 72). Kuehn

feared that if he did not report him, Masarik would follow through on his threats to burn down not only his but the houses of others as well (117:72). Kuehn did not receive a reward for this information (117:72).²

Masarik was arrested in his maroon Chevy minivan at a gas station on Farwell Avenue in the City of Milwaukee two days later, August 20, 2009, based on information provided by Kuehn (2:3; 117:59, 77; A-Ap. 107). Police searched Masarik's minivan after it was impounded and found three gas cans in the rear, matches wedged in between the front seats, and a cigarette lighter on the passenger side (2:3; 117:79-82, 91; A-Ap. 107).

2. There was probable cause to arrest Masarik.

Masarik does not deny that he knew Kuehn for many years, they worked together, they went fishing and drinking together, and they were mutual friends of Michael Jansen. Masarik does not deny that he and Kuehn got together during the day on August 7, got together again to go fishing on August 14, and lastly got together on August 18, 2009. Masarik admitted to Kuehn on those occasions that he started the fire at the rear of Jansen's house (*see* 121:31). Masarik does not claim that Kuehn received anything from the state in exchange for the information he provided. To this day, as the trial court observed at sentencing, Masarik has provided no motive for Kuehn to make up this story (121:40). As the prosecutor pointed out in his closing argument to the jury at trial in response to defense counsel's challenge to Kuehn's credibility, Kuehn was credible because everything he said was later corroborated by Masarik's confession to police (120:7-8).

² Kuehn's statements about what Masarik told him also appear in the criminal complaint (2:4-5; A-Ap. 108-09).

There is probable cause to arrest “when the totality of the circumstances within that officer’s knowledge at the time of the arrest would lead a reasonable police officer to believe that the defendant probably committed a crime. . . . The objective facts before the police officer need only lead to the conclusion that guilt is more than a possibility.” *State v. Cash*, 2004 WI App 63, ¶ 24, 271 Wis. 2d 451, 677 N.W.2d 709 (citations omitted); accord *Leroux v. State*, 58 Wis. 2d 671, 683-84, 207 N.W.2d 589 (1973).

State v. Sykes, 2005 WI 48, ¶ 18, 279 Wis. 2d 742, 695 N.W.2d 277. See *State v. Dubose*, 2005 WI 126, ¶ 36 n.13, 285 Wis. 2d 143, 699 N.W.2d 582; *State v. Koch*, 175 Wis. 2d 684, 701, 499 N.W.2d 152 (1993); *State v. Kutz*, 2003 WI App 205, ¶¶ 11-12, 267 Wis. 2d 531, 671 N.W.2d 660; *State v. Eckert*, 203 Wis. 2d 497, 518, 553 N.W.2d 539 (Ct. App. 1996).

To establish probable cause for arrest, police need even less inculpatory information than that required for a bindover after a preliminary hearing. *State v. Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 471 N.W.2d 24 (1991). Probable cause is a “flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior.” *Id.* (quoted source omitted). In determining whether probable cause exists:

The court is to consider the information available to the [arresting] officer from the standpoint of one versed in law enforcement, taking the officer’s training and experience into account. . . . The officer’s belief may be predicated in part upon hearsay information, and the officer may rely on the collective knowledge of the officer’s entire department.

Kutz, 267 Wis. 2d 531, ¶ 12.

It is a firmly established principle that hearsay and the collective knowledge of the entire police department may be used in assessing whether there was probable cause to make the arrest. *State v. Cheers*, 102 Wis. 2d 367, 388-89, 306 N.W.2d 676 (1981); *State v. Mabra*, 61 Wis. 2d 613, 625-

26, 213 N.W.2d 545 (1974); *State v. Black*, 2000 WI App 175, ¶ 17 n.4, 238 Wis. 2d 203, 617 N.W.2d 210, *cert. denied*, 531 U.S. 1182 (2001); *State v. Wille*, 185 Wis. 2d 673, 683, 518 N.W.2d 325 (Ct. App. 1994). *Also see State v. Orta*, 2000 WI 4, ¶ 20, 231 Wis. 2d 782, 604 N.W.2d 543 (Prosser, J., concurring).

The fact that the informant was identified, known to and working with police, greatly enhanced the credibility of the information he provided:

Unlike the confidential (undisclosed) informants in the cases cited by the defendants, Savage's identity was made known to the magistrate judge at the probable cause hearing. Though an anonymous tip "alone seldom demonstrates the informant's basis of knowledge or veracity," *Alabama v. White*, 496 U.S. 325, 329, 110 S.Ct. 2412, 110 L.Ed.2d 301 (1990), a magistrate in the exercise of sound judgment is entitled to give greater weight to a tip from a known informant, who can be held responsible should he be found to have given misleading information to police officers, and thus has an incentive to provide truthful information to the detectives For these reasons and others set forth herein, we hold that the judge acted within his discretion when deciding to give greater weight to the information gained from [informant] Savage rather than from some anonymous informant, considering that the police found Savage in possession of a quantity of illegal drugs and he identified Koerth contemporaneously, at the same time of his arrest.

United States v. Koerth, 312 F.3d 862, 870-71 (7th Cir. 2002).

Police had probable cause to believe that someone committed arson at Jansen's home, causing his death, on August 7, 2009. Masarik knew Jansen, as did Kuehn. Kuehn came to the police station on his own less than two weeks later, identified himself, and told police that he knew both Jansen and Masarik. Kuehn then revealed to police the inculpatory admissions Masarik made to him. The details of what Kuehn said Masarik told him corroborated what police already knew about the fire: someone started the fire at the

rear landing of Jansen's house in the early morning hours of August 7, 2009, with a liquid accelerant near where the lawn mower was located, and left. Masarik admitted to Kuehn that he set fire to the lawn mower at the rear of Jansen's house in the early morning of August 7, poured gasoline, ignited the fire, and left.

This valuable information gave police "reasonable grounds to believe" that Masarik committed the arson and homicide. Wis. Stat. § 968.07(1)(d). Masarik's guilt was far more than a mere possibility.

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